IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOS. 89,093 & 89,094

APR 1 1/47

CLERK, SUPPLEME COUP-

PROVIDENT MANAGEMENT CORPORATION and LAURENCE N. BELAIR,

Petitioners,

VS.

CITY OF TREASURE ISLAND,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE
SECOND DISTIUCT COURT OF APPEAL
LAKELAND FLORIDA

PETITIONER PROVIDENT MANAGEMENT CORPORATION'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

HOLLAND & KNIGHT,

Stary D. Brannock
Stacy D. Blank

Post Office Box 1288 Tampa, Florida 33601

(8 1 3) **227-8500**

INTRODUCTION

This appeal arises out of a claim for damages by Provident Management Corporation ("Provident") resulting from a wrongful injunction. Before this case began, Provident ran a highly visible multi-million dollar property management business at the Land's End Condominium development in the City of Treasure Island. However, four years into the operation of Provident's business at Land's End, Treasure Island elected to secure a temporary injunction against Provident that completely destroyed that business. The Second District Court of Appeal ultimately held the injunction to be wrongful and reversed. Provident returned to the trial court and obtained a damage award compensating it for the loss of its business.

Treasure Island was thoroughly mindful of the financial exposure it faced in the event the injunction were overturned and it accepted this risk at the time it sought its injunction. But now, Treasure Island disputes Provident's right to be made whole. At issue is the interpretation of this Court's opinion in *Parker Tampa Two*, *Inc. v. Somerset Dev. Corp.*, 544 So, 2d 1018 (Fla. 1989). *Parker Tampa Two* confirms that any party who suffers as a result of a wrongful injunction may recover damages, but only up to the amount of the bond. However, governmental entities like Treasure Island do not have to post a bond to obtain an injunction. Left undecided by *Parker Tampa Two* is whether the right to recover wrongful injunction damages vanishes if the trial court relieves the governmental entity seeking the injunction of the obligation to post a bond.

When it granted the injunction, the trial court ruled that Treasure Island did not have to post a bond because there was no question of its financial ability to answer for damages if the injunction were reversed. Despite the trial court's express intention that Treasure Island

remain liable and Treasure Island's acceptance of that ruling, the Second DCA reversed Provident's damage award and applied *Parker Tampa Two* to relieve the City from any responsibility for damages. Put simply, the Second DCA ruled: no bond, no recovery, no matter the intent of the parties, no matter the intent of the trial court, and no matter the intent behind Rule 1.160(b). Provident shows below that the decision to deny Provident its recovery is unfair, contrary to law, and bad public policy.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

•••••

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Provident developed an extremely successful business devoted to securing rentals for the unit owners at the Land's End condominium development in Treasure Island. Provident invested significant time and resources in developing contractual relationships with unit owners and a steady client base of renters (R. 3257-60, 3262-63, 3289-90). After four years of successful operations, Treasure Island demanded that Provident cease and desist its management of rental agreements for the Land's End unit owners, claiming that such activity violated Treasure Island's zoning ordinances. *Belair v. City of Treasure Island*, 611 So. 2d 1285, 1287-88 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), *rev. denied*, 624 So. 2d 264 (Fla. 1993).

Treasure Island brought suit against Provident and an individual unit owner at Land's End, Laurence Belair. Although no critical health, safety or welfare issues were at stake, Treasure Island elected to seek and obtain a temporary injunction against Provident and Belair without waiting for a final hearing from the trial court, let alone a definitive ruling from the appellate court, concerning the proper application of the zoning ordinance.' The temporary injunction completely shut down Provident's rental activity at Land's End. Id. at 1288. The temporary injunction was later made permanent. Id.

There was never any question about the extraordinary damages Provident faced as a result of the injunction. To support its arguments during the injunction proceedings,

Treasure Island itself represented that Provident was making profits in excess of \$500,000 per year managing a rental operation with gross revenues for the year following the

¹ In support of the temporary injunction, Treasure Island argued only that a few of the unit owners at Land's End were inconvenienced by Provident's rental program (R. 1400-01).

injunction projected at \$2.3 million (R. 1392-94). (Treasure Island hoped to show that, because it was extremely profitable, Provident was engaged in a prohibited commercial enterprise.) Even the trial court judge complimented Provident on its "obviously successful business activity" (R. 2956, 3235-37).

•

•

•

The broad scope of the injunction halted Provident's entire Land's End operation. Treasure Island argued for and received an injunction that prohibited Provident from engaging in <u>any</u> rental activity at Land's End (R. 1844-49). Other real estate companies, however, were not so restricted. Provident's customers quickly moved their business to other realtors who continued to rent Land's End units from their off-site offices without any intervention from Treasure Island authorities (R. 3293-95).

After entry of the injunction, Provident's gross annual rental revenues from Land's End dropped from roughly \$2,000,000 to zero. Likewise, Provident's significant net income from Land's End turned into significant losses as rental activity fell to zero and as Provident expended substantial legal fees in defense of the injunction (R. 3289-90). Although the injunction permitted Provident to honor its current contracts with unit owners up through their yearly renewal date (as to existing rental reservations only), Provident was precluded from entering into any new contracts or renewing any of the existing contracts at their expiration and was precluded from soliciting future rentals pursuant to its existing contracts. By June 3, 1991, Provident's number of rental contracts had dropped from 104 to zero (R. 3290).

Recognizing the magnitude of the harm Provident faced, counsel for Provident raised the issue of an injunction bond at the hearing on the motion for temporary injunction.

Treasure Island, however, argued and the trial judge ruled that Treasure Island was not required to post a bond to secure the injunction under Rule 1.610(b), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure (R. 1487-88). Rule 1.610(b) gives the trial court the discretion to dispense with a bond in injunctive actions brought by governmental entities. Exercising this discretion, the trial judge ruled that a bond was unnecessary because Treasure Island was financially solvent and had the ability to answer for damages, The following exchange occurred between counsel and the trial judge regarding the bond:

Mr. Ferguson (counsel for Provident): There is a bond issue here. It's undisputed, I think, from the testimony, that these people can lose substantial income.

The Court: I don't think a municipality is required to post a bond.

Mr. Foreman (counsel for Treasure Island): We are not required to post a bond.

<u>The Court</u>: They have unlimited resources. If they [Provident] are damaged they [Provident] can sue them [Treasure Island]. The law says they are not required to put a bond up. I mean I didn't pass that law, that is a Statute.

Mr. Foreman: There you go.

Id.

• • • • • •

••••••••

•

• • • • • •

Concluding that Provident could sue Treasure Island for its wrongful injunction damages, the court entered the temporary injunction and, based on Rule 1.610(b), excused

² Rule 1.610(b) provides: "No temporary injunction shall be entered unless a bond is given by the movant in an amount the court deems proper, conditioned for the payment of costs and damages sustained by the adverse party if the adverse party is wrongfully enjoined. When any injunction is issued on the pleading of a municipality or the state or any officer, agency, or political subdivision thereof, the court may require or dispense with a bond, with or without surety, and conditioned in the same manner, having due regard for the public interest. No bond shall be required for issuance of a temporary injunction issued solely to prevent physical injury or abuse of a natural person."

Treasure Island from posting a bond (R. 646-49). As ordered by the injunction, Provident closed its offices at Land's End and ceased all Land's End rental activities.

At the end of the hearing, there was no question where the parties stood. The trial court had relieved Treasure Island of the obligation to post a bond, but only because the City had "unlimited resources" (R. 1487). The trial court had also confirmed that Provident could sue the City for its damages (R. 1487-88).

The City reconfirmed its undertaking to pay damages shortly thereafter in defending against a federal civil rights lawsuit filed by Provident. In arguing to Judge Castagna that the federal court should abstain in favor of the state injunctive proceeding, Treasure Island represented to the court that it would pay damages to Provident in the event the injunction proved wrongful. According to counsel for Treasure Island:

... If the state court determines that this order is improvidently entered at any point in time, then there are going to be some damages against the City. This Court knows more about injunctions than I'm ever going to know. And the Court knows that if its improvidently entered anywhere, there are going to be damages against the City.

(R. 2639).

•

•

•

•

•

•

• • • •

•

•

• • • • •

•

•

•

•

Treasure Island's injunction was wrongful, In December, 1992, the Florida Second District Court of Appeal reversed the injunction, finding that Provident's rental activity was not in violation of Treasure Island's zoning code. *Belair*, 611 So. 2d at 1285. Following the court's reversal of the injunction, Provident filed a motion for an award of damages, attorneys' fees and costs for wrongful injunction against Treasure Island (R. 2427-31).

In response, Treasure Island moved to strike Provident's request (R. 2447). For the first time, Treasure Island took the position that Provident was, as a matter of law, precluded

from recovering its wrongful injunction damages. Treasure Island argued that Provident's damages for wrongful injunction are limited to the amount of the injunction bond and, because Treasure Island had not been required to post a bond, Provident was not entitled to recover any damages (R. 2447-48). Treasure Island also filed a motion for summary judgment on Provident's damages claims in which it asserted the same arguments contained in the motion to strike (R. 2441-43). Treasure Island later added an argument that sovereign immunity protected it from Provident's claims,

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Provident responded to Treasure Island's motions to strike and for summary judgment, pointing out that Treasure Island was excused from posting an injunction bond only because it was a municipality, not because the trial court intended to relieve Treasure Island from the obligation of paying damages should its injunction ultimately be declared wrongful (R. 2505-14). Provident also contended that, even if a trial court's decision to excuse a municipality from posting an injunction bond generally precludes the enjoined party from seeking wrongful injunction damages, Treasure Island waived or is estopped from claiming that protection in this case (R. 2705-07, 2713-19). As the basis of its waiver and estoppel arguments, Provident cited Treasure Island's acknowledgement of its potential responsibility for wrongful injunction damages throughout the course of the litigation (R. 2516-18, 2705-07).

Treasure Island's defenses were all rejected by the trial court in an order executed March 29, 1994 (R. 2772-74). The court ruled that Treasure Island was not immune from damages merely because the predecessor trial judge had exercised his discretion not to

require Treasure Island to post a bond, Id. The court also rejected Treasure Island's new sovereign immunity defense. Id.

The parties then proceeded to an evidentiary hearing to determine the amount of Provident's wrongful injunction damages. *Id.* After eight days of testimony, including the testimony of numerous experts, the trial court found that the temporary injunction had completely destroyed Provident's business as of June 3, 1991, the day of Provident's last rental at Land's End (R. 3214-19). The court awarded Provident damages of \$1,158,000.00, representing the value of Provident's destroyed business. The trial court also awarded Provident its attorneys' fees incurred in overturning the injunction plus pre-judgment and post-judgment interest (R. 3214-19).

The Second District Court of Appeal reversed holding that *Parker Tampa Two's* damage limitation applied even in cases where the trial judge exercised its discretion to dispense with the bond based on a city's solvency. *City of Treasure Island v. Provident, 678* So. 2d 1322 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996). The court, however, recognized the consequences of its decision, expressly warning trial judges henceforth to use extreme caution in exercising their discretion under Rule 1.610(b). *City of Treasure Island, 678 So,* 2d at 1325 n.3.

Believing the court's decision to deny Provident its damages to be in error, Provident petitioned this Court for review. Provident's jurisdictional brief pointed out the conflict between the Second DCA's ruling and decisions of this Court and other district courts of appeal confirming the right to recover damages for wrongful injunction. This Court accepted jurisdiction on February 26, 1997.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Florida law permits a wrongfully enjoined party to recover all damages, including costs and attorneys' fees, caused by the wrongful injunction. There is no exception to this rule for municipalities. The fact that a trial court may relieve a municipality from the expense and inconvenience of posting a bond does not render the municipality immune from wrongful injunction damages under *Parker Tampa Two*. To the contrary, the bond does not limit the amount of recovery unless the court has made a reasoned attempt to approximate the bond to the amount of potential damages. Cases in other jurisdictions, directly on point, have recognized that the purpose of rules such as 1.610(b) is to relieve a municipality from the expense and inconvenience of posting a bond -- not to immunize the municipality from the consequences of its wrongful conduct. The trial court's decision to excuse Treasure Island from posting a bond because of its certain financial solvency does not deprive Provident of the right to wrongful injunction damages.

The decision below is bad public policy because it places trial courts in an immediate and irreconcilable quandary. If the trial court grants a municipality the protection contemplated by Rule 1.610(b) and permits an injunction to be entered without a bond, Florida citizens, like Provident, will find themselves completely without remedy when damaged by a hasty or ill-considered injunction action brought by a governmental entity. The alternative is a disaster for Florida governmental entities. If the trial court protects the citizen's remedy by requiring the governmental entity to post a bond, the government loses the very benefit conferred by the drafters of Rule 1.610(b). The inevitable result is that injunctions will be harder to obtain by the government or, at the very least, such injunctions

will be more time consuming and expensive. Indeed, any county or municipality that regularly seeks injunctive relief may find itself with substantial funds tied up to secure its bond obligations, or worse, may be unable to post a bond at all, thus paralyzing its ability to act in the protection of the public interest.

• • • •

•

This dilemma can be eliminated simply by clarifying *Parker Tampa Two* to confirm that the decision to dispense with the bond because of the government's solvency, as provided by Rule 1.610(b), does not deprive the enjoined party of its right to compensation. As Florida law already confirms, the amount of the bond does not serve as a limit unless it was based on a reasoned approximation of the enjoined party's exposure. This approach protects the enjoined party's right to be made whole. At the same time, it protects governmental entities from being forced unnecessarily to post a bond. To the extent a governmental entity seeks to know the limit of its exposure, it may still seek such relief from the trial court at the time the injunction is entered -- not years later as Treasure Island attempts here.

This Court should reverse, reinstate the damages awarded by the trial court, and relieve trial courts from the "Catch 22" created by the Second DCA's ruling below.

ARGUMENT

•

•

Treasure Island was unrelenting in its efforts to secure and enforce an injunction against Provident -- an injunction that lasted over four years and completely destroyed Provident's business. Throughout this case, Treasure Island had full knowledge of the value of Provident's business at Land's End and knew that the injunction would completely shut that business down. Both the trial judge and Treasure Island specifically acknowledged that Treasure Island was financially sound and that Provident could sue Treasure Island for its damages in the event the injunction were reversed. Treasure Island even obtained the dismissal of Provident's federal lawsuit using the same argument that Provident had a remedy for wrongful injunction damages in the state court.

Having avoided posting a bond by recognizing its liability to pay Provident's damages, Treasure Island now seeks to disclaim its responsibility for damages by pointing to the absence of a bond. Besides the obvious inequity in Treasure Island's change of position, its argument should be rejected as contrary to precedent and public policy. The effect of the decision below is either to leave the victims of wrongful injunctions without a remedy or to rewrite Rule 1.610(b) to require municipalities to post a bond in every case to secure the traditional protections afforded by Florida law.

I. A MUNICIPALITY EXCUSED FROM POSTING AN INJUNCTION BOND IS STILL LIABLE FOR WRONGFUL INJUNCTION DAMAGES.

Perhaps the most extraordinary remedy available to any litigant is the power to obtain a preliminary injunction. Prior to any resolution on the merits, and often in great haste and without a full hearing, the successful applicant for an injunction obtains immediate relief -- many times to the severe detriment of the party being enjoined. Recognizing the

consequences of an erroneous decision, courts balance this extraordinary remedy with the responsibility to pay damages if the injunction proves wrongful. Thus, it has long been settled in Florida and in most other states that a party who has been enjoined wrongfully has the right to recover all damages including attorneys' fees and costs from the party seeking the injunction. *E.g., Lake Worth Broadcasting Corp. v. Hispanic Broadcasting, Inc., 495*So. 2d 1234, 1234 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); *Roger Dean Chevrolet, Inc. v. Painters, Decorators and Paperhangers of Am., Local* No. 452, 155 So. 2d 422, 425 (Fla. 2d DCA 1965). As one Florida court put it: "This right should not be denied." *Shea v. Central Diagnostic Services, Inc.,* 552 So. 2d 344 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989).

88888888888

•

666666666666666666

•

(3) (3)

666666

Historically, this right of recovery for wrongful injunction has been protected by requiring the plaintiff to post an injunction bond sufficient to cover the damages caused by the injunction if reversed. In Florida, a private party may not obtain an injunction without posting such a bond. Rule 1.610(b). Except in extraordinary circumstances, this bond must be sufficient to cover the defendant's potential damages. *Parker Tampa Two*, 544

So. 2d at 1021; Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. v. Cozart, 561 So. 2d 368, 371 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). See Marston v. Gainesville Sun Publishing Co., 314 So. 2d 257, 259 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975) (rejecting an obviously inadequate bond as a "farce" and a "mockery").4

³ The only exception is an action to enjoin physical injury or abuse. Rule 1.610(b).

⁴ The City conceded this point in its initial brief below acknowledging that "the bond should be in an amount sufficient to indemnify the Defendant for such costs and damages as he might incur in the event it is ultimately determined that the Defendant was wrongfully restrained." Initial Brief at 16.

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