OA 6-2-92

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA CASE NOS.: 89,093 and 89,094

## PROVIDENT MANAGEMENT CORPORATION and LAURENCE N. BELAIR,

Petitioners,

VS.

CITY OF TREASURE ISLAND, a Florida municipal corporation,

Respondent.

FILED STD J. WHITE APR 29 1997 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By\_ **Ohlef Deputy Clerk** 

ON REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL LAKELAND, FLORIDA

## **RESPONDENT, CITY OF TREASURE ISLAND'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

BUTLER, BURNETTE & PAPPAS

- WABerry, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 243851
- ✓ WILLIAM R. LEWIS, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 879827 Bayport Plaza - Suite 1100 6200 Courtney Campbell Causeway Tampa, Florida 33607-1458 813/281-1900

Doc:DXM/201042

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

. . .

It is argued by counsel for appellant that the state. a county, municipal corporation, or married woman, is, under the nrovisions of that section, just as liable for damages resulting from the wrongful or erroneous issuance of an injunction as is any one who given an undertaking under the provisions of the statute, and that the only purpose of the exception was to avoid the inconvenience and annoyance that might be entailed on the state. county, or city officer, or a married woman, in case they were required to secure an undertaking before the writ would issue. It is further contended by counsel that an undertaking on the part of the excepted classes would not add anything to the security. We cannot agree to this line of reasoning. In the entire absence of this statute, there would be no liability for the wrongful or erroneous suing out a writ of injunction. except in cases where a court or eauity might see fit to require a bond in advance. In the absence of the statute, it is therefore clear that the state, county, and municipal corporation would not be liable as on bond. It is equally certain that this statute does not require them to give a bond or declare that they shall be liable, the same as an individual, although they do not give a bond. The reasons for the enactment of this statute might be the subject of much speculation, but we are inclined to think that it was the legislative purpose to exempt the public from such liability, whether they be acting as a state, a county, or a municipal corporation, and that it was considered by the law-making power that, since an injunction must be sought and procured through executive or administrative officers who can have no personal interest in the matter except the discharge of their public duties, and the writ, if granted at all, must be granted by the judicial department of the statethat with these two means of investigation and two branches of the state government passing upon the matter, the chances of damages occurring to the

Doc:DXM/201042

individual would be minimized, and that no liability should be imposed on the public for any error or misjudgment on the part of the officers, both executive and judicial, so acting. (emphasis supplied)

Florida follows the majority rule regarding 1: imiting damages to the amount of the bond and Idaho is a majority rule state as well. The identical claim presented herein has been addressed and rejected by the Idaho Supreme **Cour**t in Doyle and, by extension, the same result should obtain in Florida.

It should also be noted<sup>5</sup> that while Rule 1.610(b), Fla. R. Civ. P., was extensively amended to parallel Rule 65, Fed. R. Civ. P., the case law interpreting Rule 65 dictates that damages are limited to the injunction bond even when the state or municipality is not required to post a bond. Rule 65(c) specifically excludes the United States and its agencies from posting a bond. In fact, Federal case law holds that when the United States or one of its agencies

Where, as here, the <u>applicant opposes a motion for posting of security on the</u> <u>basis of its financial responsibility</u> and does not seek to limit its liability, it may not avoid liability on the ground that a bond was not required. (emphasis supplied).

At no point in any hearing or memorandum filed in any court in this matter has TREASURE ISLAND opposed a motion for posting of bond on the basis of its financial responsibility, TREASURE ISLAND merely contended, as is specifically allowed under Rule 1.610, Fla. R. Civ. P., that it was not required to post a bond, The trial court made the finding that the reason for this rule is that the municipality has unlimited resources to pay any judgment. TREASURE ISLAND has never contended that this was the correct finding. However, TREASURE ISLAND was not aggrieved by the ruling and had no right or responsibility to appeal this finding. PROVIDENT and BELAIR were aggrieved by this finding and should have appealed the trial court's finding. They, of course, did not.

Doc:DXM/201042

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> PROVIDENT has cited **Monroe Div., Litton Bus.** Sys. v. De Bari, 562 F.2d 30, 32 (10th Cir. 1977), for the proposition that when a municipality is excused from posting a bond, the municipality remains liable for damages. However, **De** Bari did not involve a municipality. In addition, PROVIDENT did not cite the most important portion of the opinion. In **De** Bari, the court held that:

petitions the court for a temporary injunction it is not required to post a bond and when the temporary injunction is later vacated it is not liable for damages because it is sovereignly immune. This rationale was clearly spelled out in *Securities and Exchange Commission v. Unifund* SAL,, 910 F.2d 1028, 1039 (2nd Cir. 1990), wherein the court, in deciding the standard to be applied in obtaining a temporary injunction by a governmental agency, held:

Perhaps the alternative test has been denied the Government in recognition of the fact that <u>the United States and its agencies are relieved of the obligations imposed</u> on private litigants to provide security for damages incurred by a party wrongfully <u>enioined</u>, see Fed.R.Civ.P. 65(c), and are protected by sovereign <u>immunity</u>, thereby leaving a party without recourse if wrongfully enioined. . . . (emphasis added)

The *Unifund* court is quite clear that without the requirement of posting a bond, there can be no action under the bond to recover damages for wrongful injunction. Additionally, because the United States is immune from suit, there can be no independent action against the United States for wrongful injunction and a party is without recourse against the United States or one of its agencies if wrongfully enjoined.

This same rationale is applicable in Florida. Rule 1.610, Fla. R. Civ. P., (which is patterned after Rule 65, Fed, R. Civ. P), allows the court to relieve the State or any of its agencies or municipalities of the requirement to post a bond keeping in mind "due regard for the public interest", i.e., there may be times when the "public interest" requires the State to post a bond. Because PROVIDENT and BELAIR claim damages here, they should have appealed the trial court's finding that no bond was required.6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> PROVIDENT contends that *City of St. Petersburg* v. *Wall*, 475 So .2d 662 (Fla. 1985), supports its entitlement to damages. However, in *Wall* the Court specifically excused the municipality from the requirement of posting a supersedeas bond but specifically allowed appellees to seek "recovery of damages and costs resulting from anv stay." Thus, the court

Contrary to Petitioners' contentions that there is only one exception to the requirement of posting a bond, (see footnote 3 - PROVIDENT Brief at p. 12), there are actually two instances when a bond may not be required under Rule 1.610(b), Fla. R. Civ. P.: (1) when an injunction is issued on the pleading of a municipality or the state or any officer, agency, or political subdivision . . . having due regard for the public interest, and (2) when an injunction is issued to prevent physical injury or abuse. Petitioners contended below that **Parker Tampa Two** and its progeny were decided in an arena in which an injunction bond in some amount is an absolute requirement. Quite the contrary, in **Hathcock v. Hathcock**, *supra*, an injunction bond in some amount was not an absolute requirement. **Hathcock** specifically stands for the proposition that even in cases when an injunction bond is not required pursuant to Rule 1.610(b), damages are in any event still limited to the amount of the injunction bond unless separate action involving some intentional tort could be brought to prove malicious prosecution. This was the precise holding of the Second District Court of Appeal below.

If this court were to reverse the Second District Court of Appeal's decision, not only would the taxpayers be required to pay for the failure of PROVIDENT or **BELAIR** to appeal the order which did not require a bond, but the discretion to relieve a municipality of posting a bond

recognized and specifically permitted "appellees to seek damages resulting from the stay." It should be noted that the *Wall* court reversed an award of damages incurred during **pendency** of the lower court condemnation hearing. The court specifically held that: "Where, as here, there has been no showing of bad faith. a city should not be held liable for litigating a case which it subseauently loses." *Id.* at 663. In the instant case, the trial court found that if Petitioners were damaged they could "sue," presumably under the theory that the injunction was obtained maliciously or in bad faith. However, as a reading of the record will show, contrary to Provident's contentions, the trial court did not issue the "injunction based on the condition that Treasure Island would be responsible for damages." (Provident brief at p. 23). There is absolutely no evidence that the trial court found that Treasure Island would be liable for unlimited liability when it ruled to dispense with the bond.

would be completely written out of Rule 1.610(b), because the municipality would always be

facing unlimited and potentially unforeseeable damages. This was not the intent of the exception

in Rule 1.610 as was clearly explained in **Yonkers v. Federal Sugar** Ref. Co., 22 1 N.Y. 206,

209-212, 116 N.E. 998 (N.Y. 1917), wherein the court stated:

A plaintiff then has the opportunity, if he thinks the security excessive, to abandon his injunction. In any case, he counts the cost, and assumes a liability whose maximum is a determinate amount.

Special rules apply, however, to provisional remedies granted at the instance of municipal corporations. In such cases no security is required....

If some resident of Yonkers had brought this suit, there would have been a prescribed maximum of risk. <u>The plain purpose of the statute was, not to impose upon municipal corporations an added burden. but to give them a special privilege. The privilege is an illusory one if this order is to be affirmed. If the defendant's position is upheld, a municipal corporation, alone among litigants, may **find** itself involved in a crushing and indeterminate liability because of the error of a court in holding that it was entitled to relief. (emphasis added).</u>

## 1. <u>CONTRARY TO PETITIONERS ASSERTIONS,</u> <u>PUBLIC POLICY CONSIDERATIONS DO NOT</u> <u>SUPPORT REVERSAL OF THE APPELLATE</u> <u>COURT'S DECISION</u>

Petitioners' and The Florida Association of County Attorneys contend that the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal is bad "public policy." Specifically, they state that "Rule **1.610(b)** relieves public bodies of the burden of spending time and money normally associated with obtaining a temporary injunction by allowing the trial court to dispense with the requirement of posting a bond." (Amicus brief at p. 3). In addition, they contend that "The Second District's ruling will have the effect of making it more difficult for a governmental agency to obtain a temporary injunction, defeating the purpose of Rule **1.610(b)**." (Amicus brief at **p**. 5). Finally, they state that "**[t]o** avoid putting all of the risk of wrongful injunction on the enjoined

party, courts will be forced to either deny a temporary injunction to a public body or require it to post a bond." (Amicus brief at p. 6). It is ironic that Petitioners seek to defend all municipalities in the State of Florida, while at the same time attempting to enforce a multi-million dollar judgment against one of the smaller cities in the State of Florida. In any event, Petitioners' and the Amicus' contentions are meritless.

The Florida Rules of Civil Procedure expressly provide that when a temporary injunction is granted, unless certain circumstances exist, the court must require the party obtaining the injunction to post a bond conditioned for the payment of such costs and damages as may be incurred by the party who was wrongfully enjoined. Rule 1.610, Fla.R.Civ.P., states in pertinent part:

(b) **Bond.** No temporary injunction shall be entered unless a bond is given by the movant in an amount the court deems proper, conditioned for the payment of costs and damages sustained by the adverse party if the adverse party is wrongfully enjoined. When any injunction is issued on the pleading of a municipality or the state or any officer, agency, or political subdivision thereof, the court may require or dispense with a bond, with or without surety, and conditioned in the same manner, having due regard for the public interest. . . . (emphasis added).

Contrary to Petitioner's and the Amicus' contentions, a trial court has three options when a municipality obtains a temporary injunction.' The trial court can: (1) require a bond with surety, (2) require a bond without surety or, (3) dispense with a bond. Bond with surety is defined in section 45.011, Fla. Stat., as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The Florida Association of County Attorneys erroneously contends that "Courts will have only two choices when a public body requests a temporary injunction: they can either deny the request, or they can require that a bond be posted to give the enjoined party recourse if the issuance of the injunction proves to be wrongful. Public bodies will be treated the same as private parties, making the waiver provision in Rule 1.610(b) useless, and defeating its purpose. " (Amicus brief at p. 7).

a bond with two good and sufficient sureties, each with unencumbered property not subject to any exemption afforded by law equal in value to the penal sum of the bond or a bond with a licensed surety company as surety or a cash deposit conditioned as for a bond.

When the trial court requires the municipality to post a bond with surety, the municipality will be faced with the same costs that a private individual would have in obtaining a temporary injunction. These costs include obtaining the bond and paying the premiums to secure the bond. However, when the trial court requires a bond without surety, the municipality acts as its own surety and does not face any additional costs or delay in obtaining the temporary injunction. There is no premium to pay because no bonding agency is employed. In both instances the damages are fixed by the amount of the bond. The public policy concerns delineated in the initial briefs are non-existent because the trial court has the discretion to set a bond but dispense with a surety. Thus, there is no additional cost in obtaining an injunction and no municipal "funds [are] tied up in order to secure its bond obligations." (Provident at p. 20). In this way, the municipality knows the extent of its liability if the injunction is deemed improper. Moreover, sovereign immunity concerns are obviated because the action for damages becomes an action on the bond, a written agreement to pay. Squaxin Island Tribe v. State of Washington, 781 F.2d 7 15 (9th Cir. 1986); Pan-Am Tobacco Corp., v. Department of Corrections, 471 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1984).

The third scenario involves the situation where the trial court dispenses with the bond altogether. Under this scenario the trial court must take into account "due regard for the public interest", i.e., there are times when the trial court may decide that the injunction involves sovereign immunity issues or other matters for which the public interest requires the injunction be entered and the City is not required to post a bond. This is a discretionary function of the court for which there is a direct appeal to the appellate court. There may be times when the trial court abuses that discretion and an appeal might be successful and a bond required. However, that presumes the aggrieved party appeals the trial court's discretionary decision. In the instant case, neither Provident nor Belair, although having appealed numerous other issues from both the temporary and permanent injunctions, sought redress on appeal from the trial court's discretionary decision to dispense with the bond.

Finally, PROVIDENT contended below that if the trial court intended to dispense with PROVIDENT's right to damages along with the bond, it would have been obligated to give PROVIDENT a hearing on that issue. PROVIDENT simply misses the point. Taken in the light most favorable to Petitioners, **PROVIDENT** and **BELAIR** were afforded a hearing on their request for a bond. (R. at p. 1487-1488). The request was denied and no appeal was taken from that order. Thus, PROVIDENT and **BELAIR** must be deemed to have waived any entitlement to damages. No constitutional issues are raised because PROVIDENT and **BELAIR** were given a hearing and an opportunity to appeal. For some reason not reflected in the record, they decided not to appeal the decision.

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